
CITY OF CORVALLIS 
MINUTES OF THE PARKS, NATURAL AREAS AND RECREATION BOARD 

SEPTEMBER 18, 2014 
 
Attendance 
Betty Griffiths, Chair 
Lynda Wolfenbarger, Vice-Chair 
Simone Frei 
Phillip Hays 
Michael Mayes 
Deb Rose 
Jon Soule 
Anthony Stumbo 
Joel Hirsch, City Council Liaison 
 
Absent/Excused 
Ralph Alig 
Tatiana Dierwechter 
Marc Vomocil 
Kevin Bogotin, 509-J District Liaison 

Staff 
Jude Geist, Parks Operations Supervisor 
James Mellein, Aquatic Center Supervisor 
Jackie Rochefort, Park Planner 
Mark Lindgren, Recorder  
 
Guests 
Zel Brook 
Brad Whiting  
Mindy Perez 
Terry Weiss 
  
 
 

 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION 
 

  
Agenda Item 

 
Summary of Recommendations 

III. 
Approval of Meeting Minutes – 
August 21, 2014  

August 21, 2014 minutes approved as presented. 

IV. Visitors’ Propositions Information only. 

V. Dogs in Parks- Follow Up  

Motion passed, with one vote in opposition: “The board 
recommended a direct request to the Council for an enforcement 
officer to spend more time in parks, especially on evenings and 
weekends, and that dog licenses would be raised by $10 across the 
board to fund this”. 

VI. General Review of Goals 
Information only. 
 

VII. Executive Session- Property Acquisition No discussion. 

VIII. Staff Reports Information only. 

IX. Council Liaison Report Information only. 

X. Board Member Reports Information only. 

XI. Adjournment  
The next regular meeting will be held October 16, 2014 at 6:30 p.m., 
at the Downtown Fire station meeting room. 

 
 
CONTENT OF DISCUSSION 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER. 



 
 
 

 
Chair Betty Griffiths called the meeting of the Parks, Natural Areas and Recreation Board to 
order at 6:34 p.m. Planner Rochefort noted that agenda item VII, “Executive Session - Property 
Acquisition” was on the agenda in error and would not be discussed.  
 

III. INTRODUCTIONS. 
 

 III. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES: AUGUST 21, 2014 
Phil Hayes moved and Deb Rose seconded to approve the August 21, 2014 minutes as presented;  
motion passed.  
 

IV. VISITORS’ PROPOSITIONS. 
Zel Brook distributed four sets of written testimony to the board and the recorder. She stated that 
she walks with a cane and leg brace and had been repeatedly bothered in parks by off-leash dogs, 
even where there were signs posted prohibiting dogs or requiring that they be on-leash. She said 
dogs jump on her or approach her wanting her to throw her cane, creating a trip hazard. She said 
this was an issue for people with disabilities, and related hearing from one senior who was so 
afraid of dogs surrounding her walker that she would no longer visit parks. She said her ability to 
use public spaces was shrinking and it was not fair to expect her to have to talk to each problem 
dog owner during a workout. She related that it was not uncommon for her to be disturbed several 
times during a 45-minute workout. 
 
She said dog owners were ignoring signs, and walking dogs off-leash in areas with “No Dogs 
Allowed” signs, including at Harding School, Linus Pauling School and Central Park, and 
walking dogs off-leash in areas of Bald Hill where dogs are required to be on leash. She said the 
number of dogs overall is increasing. She encouraged the department to work with the Police 
Department to enforce existing ordinances and to improve signage.  
 
Brad Whiting highlighted signage regarding dogs and dog access in parks. In Crystal Lake 
Sports Park, dogs frequently jump on him in areas that are clearly marked. He took photos to 
illustrate signage and distributed four sets to the board.  
 
Upon entering Crystal Lake Sports Park, there is not a very noticeable sign; the first sign along 
the bike path into the park is a “Dogs Leash Required” sign; later, there is a kiosk with 
information on where dogs are and aren’t allowed. The nearby waste station does not have a sign. 
Another frequently used park entry is the undesignated trail by the north side of the park to 
Crystal Lake Cemetery, where Benton County posted a sign requiring leashes, cleanup, and cites 
Code. In south Willamette Park, there is signage about entering and leaving the off-leash area that 
is confusing, not very visible, and some signs are overgrown.  
 
He said there is prominent dog signage in Lilly Park. However, at Central Park, the only dog 
signage is at the southeast corner, where few people enter the park. Franklin Park has prominent 
signs at the west and east sides, and they cite municipal code, which helps in enforcement. 
 
He said the school district has a policy of no dogs allowed on school grounds, and posts it; he 
wasn’t sure if there was municipal code as well. However, people still walk dogs off-leash in 
Harding School, where dogs are prohibited. Even though most do pick up after their dogs, there is 
still waste residue where kids play in the grass.  
 
At the Bald Hill Natural Area trailhead, there is a “leash required” sign and a kiosk that lists a 
number of rules. There is a notice of the easement, which states that dogs must be on leash or 



 
 
 

under voice control; however, most dogs and their owners are not well trained at voice control. 
He recognized there were budget constraints but hoped things would change over time; the more 
prominent the signage, the better the compliance should be. 

 
Mindy Perez highlighted her written letter submitted to the board. She said that though there 
have been recent comments at the Gazette-Times about dogs attacking them, she’d lived here 
over 27 years and biked and walked everywhere, especially near Harding School, and uses all 
types of parks. She said she had only been threatened by a dog once in all that time (the dog was 
frightened during fireworks the owner rapidly brought it under control). She said the idea of 
volunteer rangers, discussed by the board, would be a big mistake, due to the large emotions on 
both sides. Volunteers simply cannot be adequately trained for these situations, and it would be 
setting off a powder keg.  
 
She said signs could be better, but the City was spending a lot of time and resources on this, and 
asked if there was any hard data showing an increase in leash violations, such as a percentage of 
population over the years. Chair Griffiths replied that that people were not being cited for 
violations, since citations were slim due to lack of enforcement funds. Perez said that money for 
volunteer rangers should be used on other programs, since there is not data to support the 
contention that there is actually a problem.  
 
Phil Hays commented that a dog was killed in his front yard by an on-leash dog. Though it was a 
rare occurrence, he said many people are anxious about dogs they don’t know, since there are 
dangerous dogs out there. City Liaison Joel Hirsch noted that no rule would have changed that 
dog attack.  
 
Terry Weiss stated that a Corvallis man attacked someone else verbally and physically, was 
found guilty by a jury and went to jail, but suddenly the City was in an uproar about dogs. 
However, we’re not talking about that man’s attack, but rather about regulating dogs. She said 
she’s walked her dogs at either Crystal Lake and Oak Creek every day for six years, and hasn’t 
heard any discussion about a dog attacking a person, but has heard of someone threatening to kill 
a dog owner and a dog. Now the board is discussing something that is a non-issue, when it has so 
many more serious responsibilities and issues to deal with. She said that if people aren’t paying 
attention to signs, make them bigger, and suggested the board move on.  
 

V.  DOGS IN PARKS- FOLLOW UP.   
 
Chair Griffiths said the dogs issue had actually been simmering for years, along with work by the 
board, and was not just a result of the recent incident with Mr. Codo in a park. Park Supervisor 
Jude Geist said the subcommittee addressing dog issues will be meeting on September 29, 2014 
and discussing suggestions, signage, educational materials, enforcement and budget limitations, 
and other questions.  
 
Geist said that at the last board meeting, questions were raised, including the number of fines 
assessed in recent years. There were under five citations for dogs off-leash the last year; however, 
he noted that there weren’t really enforcement officers out there. The existing Animal Control 
officer works twenty hours a week, from Monday through Friday.  
 
He said that the current licensing fee is complicated. A regular dog license costs $25 for one year, 
$45 for two years, or $65 for three years. If a dog is spayed or neutered, then a license costs $20 
for one year, $35 for two years or $47 for three years. These fees were just increased last year for 



 
 
 

the first time in seven years. There are also senior citizen rates for regular and spayed and 
neutered dogs, which were also slightly raised by $2 and $4, respectively.  
 
The dog license fees for In-City dogs raised $47,000 in FY13-14. Per the City’s IGA agreement 
with the County, the City received $34,000 of that, but it is not clear where it goes (it probably 
funds the Enforcement Officer). The off-leash violation fine is $50.  
 
Griffiths related she talked to the County Clerk, who stated that there are currently 1,200 licensed 
dogs within the City. Hays stated that the ordinance mandates that not licensing a dog is a Class B 
violation with a fine up to $100; Geist added that the fine is typically $50. Griffiths highlighted 
information Hays sent out regarding penalties.  
 
Griffiths related that a previous board discussed raising the dog license fees by $10 within the 
City, but the proposal did not go forward, for a number of reasons. She asked if the board would 
like to continue to take it forward again.  
 
She said that there was also board discussion on having the City and County use the same trail 
signage and to designate the Mulkey Creek Trail as “No dogs”. Hays said he was also on the 
County Park Board as well, and that there was confusion about the easement and the agreement. 
He understood that in the County, dogs must be on-leash or under voice control everywhere.    
The County easements under discussion, at Bald Hill Park, the Mulkey Ridge Trail, and to Fitton 
Green, require that dogs must be on-leash or under voice control. However, it is adjacent to the 
City Park, where a leash is required. Griffiths said it is confusing for dog owners and other park 
users. Hays stated that County rules allow applying stricter rules in some circumstances, and 
suggested implementing those stricter rules there.  
 
Griffiths stated that she, board member Ralph Alig, and Supervisor Geist visited Bald Hill to 
review signage. She noted that there was also Greenbelt Land Trust property there. Geist said 
he’d talked to the County, and said it could be helpful to coordinate signage with the County, 
including sign colors.  
 
Hays stated that the County will also talk to Albany, which had no off-leash area until this year. 
Albany approached Benton County to host an off-leash area in North Albany Park, and the 
County Parks board agreed on an area to do it, if Albany pays for it, and Albany will both police 
and sign it. He said that could be a good model of City-County coordination, using City signs. 
Geist said both logos could be on the signage. Hays said it was not clear whether a vote by the 
board was needed. Griffiths related she discussed the matter with Benton County Parks Director 
Jeff Powers, who stated that a board vote was not required; that the department has the discretion 
to make the changes. Hays agreed that it was up to department discretion. 
 
Deb Rose moved to recommend to the City Council increasing new and renewal dog license fees 
by $10, and using the money to fund increased hours for the Animal Control Officer, particularly 
during times when people are using the parks, or to provide education for dog owners, including 
signage. Hays seconded the motion.  
 
Stumbo said there was no correlation that additional funding would go to spend additional time in 
Parks; the Animal Control Officer does many other things as well. Griffiths replied that if it was 
worded specifically regarding enforcing the law in parks, that would be the expectation, though 
the board can’t control the Sheriff’s Department, and it could get hashed out further. She said 
providing funds could improve enforcement. Soule said if the funds were intended to be targeted 
specifically to Animal Control Officer, then the motion language should be more specific, such as 



 
 
 

weekend hours, or percentage time in parks. Griffiths said a private donation had been earmarked 
to signage.  
 
Hays suggested amending the motion to “The board recommended a direct request to the City 
Council for an Animal Control officer to spend more time enforcing existing laws in parks, 
particularly on evenings and weekends, and that the dog license would be raised by $10 across 
the board for new and renewed licenses to fund that; along with education”. Griffiths said the dog 
subcommittee may later recommend increasing fines. 
 
Frei asked if education included signage and print materials, such as brochures, and expressed 
concern that $10 in increased fees may not be enough to pay for both enforcement and signage. 
Rose said people don’t understand that there are fines, and don’t really understand what voice 
control means. She suggested taking education out of the motion, since enforcement was more 
important. Frei said the presence of an Animal Control officer makes dog owners take notice.  
 
Liaison Hirsch said at the point of sale for the dog license, information could be provided, and 
people could be asked to acknowledge reading the rules by signing before they get the license. 
Frei noted that licensing often happens by mail, so enforcement was tricky.  
 
Hays said increasing the cost of roughly 1,200 dog licenses by $10 would only raise $12,000, so 
perhaps for now, the board’s goal should be to enforce the existing laws. Rose agreed to remove 
education from the motion; Hays concurred.  
 
The amended motion “The board recommended a direct request to the City Council for an 
Animal Control officer to spend more time enforcing existing laws in parks, particularly on 
evenings and weekends, and that the dog license would be raised by $10 across the board for new 
and renewed licenses to fund that” passed, with Anthony Stumbo opposing.  
 
Hays noted that the law states that dogs shall be on leash in all public places except those 
specifically designated as off-leash, and with 27 times the off-leash acreage than any other city in 
Oregon, there will still plenty of places for off-leash running. He acknowledged the importance of 
having places for dogs to run, but we need to enforce the on-leash law in places not designated 
for off-leash. 
 

VI.  GENERAL REVIEW OF GOALS.  
 
Griffiths highlighted the board goals. Hays had no suggestions regarding Goal I- “Advocate to 
prioritize improvements to existing neighborhood parks trails and natural areas”. Hays felt the 
worst problem, a very muddy area in the Bald Hill trail, was being rectified. Geist explained that 
the east side path at Bald Hill trail gets muddy in winter, so is closed to horses and bikes in 
winter; however, there is no other good loop alternative for bikes there, and it gets messy in 
winter. He reported that the Rotary After Five group offered volunteers and funds to fix a trail, 
and agreed to work on this one. There is an official trail that goes straight up Bald Hill that stays 
dry; though it is a strenuous climb, it can withstand bikers to be a multiuse trail in winter.  
 
Griffiths asked about trails in neighborhood parks; Geist replied there was a long, diverse list of 
deferred maintenance items in parks. Griffiths suggested that Geist work with Director Emery to 
present a projects list to the Friends of Corvallis Parks and Recreation group. Hays added that 
trails at Chip Ross also need work; we should find other groups to volunteer on trails. Geist said 
that staff were waiting to hear about OWEB grant funds for oak release at Chip Ross, and there 
could be restoration of roads as part of the process of removing fir overgrowing oaks there.  



 
 
 

 
Regarding Goal II- “Implement efficiencies between the City, County, OSU, LBCC and the 
school district”, Griffiths noted that the point person for the goal, Josh Baur, had left the board. 
Geist said the Integrated Vegetation Pest Management (IVPM) work group included the 
department, OSU, County Parks, County Public Works, City Public Works, the School District 
and GLT. The group meets twice a year to discuss pests the partners are encountering and how 
they are dealing with them. 
 
Regarding Goal III- “Develop a plan to increase funding for Parks and Recreation”,  Rose related 
she met with Friends of Corvallis Parks and Rec. A fundraising expert gave feedback, and 
recommended focusing on targeted projects initially while developing various fundraising 
processes. Griffiths said Aquatic Center Supervisor James Mellein also had thoughts about 
fundraising. Rose said Mellein had taken on several fundraising research tasks; Mike Fisher is 
looking at expanding Dog Day; Steve DeGhetto is looking at concessions at parks special events; 
Mellein and Sharon Bogdanovic are collaborating with the medical community on therapy classes 
at the pool and Senior Center; and Director Karen Emery is evaluating System Development 
Charges (SDC’s).  
 
Regarding Goal IV- “Expand public awareness, communication and advocacy for all Parks and 
Recreation facilities, land and programs”, Griffiths noted that the point person for the goal, 
Tatiana Dierwechter, was not present to report. Lynda Wolfenbarger said the subcommittee had 
not met recently, and related that Dierwechter had been working on combining it with Goal VI 
(“Develop and expand recreational opportunities, such as outdoor education, for underserved 
youth and families”). The committee will meet prior to the board’s October meeting. She related 
that a billboard on the Highway 99 targeted Spanish speaking residents.  
 
Regarding Goal V- “Develop or expand community relationships and partnerships to pursue joint 
goals”, Michael Mayes reported that the subcommittee had not met recently. He related that staff 
have updated the websites and worked with the Right Trail website to develop partnerships. Geist 
added that the Right Trail website includes the Greenbelt Land Trust, OSU, and Benton County 
as primary partners, and puts all trails at one website in a single format. It is still being fine-tuned.  
 
Regarding Goal VII- “Explore developing a Parks and Recreation Parks District”, Griffiths 
related that it got put on hold after the Parks five-year levy passed. There could be discussion of 
district boundaries; she noted that a number of people that lived outside the City but used City 
services could be within such a District. Wolfenbarger said that she and Dierwechter would work 
on it.  
 
Griffiths there had not been a joint meeting with the County and the Greenbelt Land Trust this 
year; Geist said there were no pressing issues that needed to be addressed. She said the goals 
would be reviewed in July. 
 

VII.  EXECUTIVE SESSION- PROPERTY ACQUISITION.  No discussion. 
 

VIII. STAFF REPORTS.   
 
Planner Rochefort related that Dog Day will be hosted by the Osborn Aquatic Center on October 
4; several sponsors are already lined up, and the Corvallis Aquatic Swim Team will staff a dog 
wash station. This is held annually; dogs use the outdoor pool just before it is drained and 
cleaned.  
 



 
 
 

She said the Marys River Natural Area boardwalk project was very complex. The bid was not 
only on price but also on qualifications, experience and references; a qualified contractor was 
selected. There are a number of agencies involved in the permitting for the project, including the 
National Conservation Service, the Corps of Engineers, and FEMA. She met with the State 
Archeologist on-site. She is detailing costs for the project. The neighbors requested a slight 
extension of the boardwalk, to be funded through SDC’s, which was approved by the Council. 
We need to demonstrate a no net rise in the floodplain and mitigate the construction. The work 
can be done in winter if need be; she said FEMA understands the permit issues and will grant an 
extension if necessary. 
 
The Arnold Park project should have been under construction by now, but there was a change in 
the purchasing methodology for playground equipment, so staff will have to go out to bid first for 
a playground vendor first, then get a contractor. There was a JANA neighborhood meeting (in the 
Franklin Park area) that she attended with former board member Charley Fisher to discuss options 
for the playground, which is in the CIP for this year. If a grant is secured for the project, it will 
need a 50% match, so neighbors are looking at grants and fundraising efforts. 
 
The Walnut Barn finally got the ability for electric power, and SDC’s will fund installing lighting 
and other improvements to extend its use seasonally and make it a nicer place to be. She will 
bring the board more information. 
 
She is working on a Comp Plan amendment, a text change to the Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan (approved by the Council but not yet adopted). We need an amendment for it to be 
enforceable. Director Emery will bring it to the Planning Commission’s November 5 meeting. 
 
She said the Shooting Star Trail got a little damage in the recent fire, and staff will file an 
insurance claim to replace 32’ of the boardwalk there (two 16’ sections). There is a proposal for 
residential development in the Timberhill area that would come right up to the trail, and would 
remove 90’ at the start of the trail. She has discussed the possibility of vegetative barriers and 
other issues with the developers. For the developer to meet Block Perimeter Standards, the trail 
would have to be hard surfaced in some sections. However, that would change the character of 
the existing recreational trail to a multiuse trail, and the board would have to make a 
recommendation to the Planning Commission and the Council if it agreed. The developer could 
also apply for a variance to avoid having to use a hard surface trail. She expected the board to get 
a presentation by the developers at its October meeting.  
 
Rochefort said the easement is 15’, while the boardwalk is 5.5’ wide. Another consideration is 
that the section that the developers propose removing would have to be replaced or reimbursed, 
since it was constructed by grant funds. To change it from a recreational trail to essentially a 
sidewalk, as required under Block Perimeter Standards, could have a significant impact on 
maintenance practices and developers would need to compensate maintenance. Griffiths noted 
that it would drastically change the nature of the trail; Rochefort agreed it would be a very 
different experience. 
 
Geist outlined impacts of the Timberhill fire to the boardwalk, saying there was damage at the 
seam of two joist sections. Staff hoped to salvage some of the lumber, such as for benches, to 
keep it out of the landfill. The boardwalk will likely remain closed until insurance issues can be 
addressed. Rochefort said it could take at least four weeks for replacement materials to arrive.  
 
Geist said the fire started on the Timberhill Natural Area, mostly burning grassy areas there, but 
didn’t go up to Chip Ross Natural Area. Perhaps only two trees were completely lost, though 



 
 
 

others were damaged. Both parks are now open, with additional signage asking people to stay on 
existing trails to minimize erosion. He anticipated lots of new Scotch Broom growth from the 
existing seed bank despite volunteers removing plants for years from the slope there. The Oregon 
Department of Forestry bulldozed a fire line, and agreed to do the restoration for the department. 
Inmate crews spread brush.     
 

IX. COUNCIL LIAISON REPORT.  
 
Council Liaison Joel Hirsch reported that Finance Director Nancy Brewer was serving as interim 
City Manager. Also, the Majestic Theater Executive Director had resigned; the theater will 
remain open for at least the next eleven months, by the contract. Hays asked whose shoulders 
management of the theater would fall on; Hirsch replied Parks and Recreation was responsible for 
the Arts Center and the theater. He said there were three options: the City could put out an RFP to 
see if another management company would step up; Parks and Recreation could manage it; or it 
could be sold. Liaison Hirsch stated that the existing non-profit has had enough, and has not 
shown a good record in hiring executive directors with longevity. City Council Liaison Hirsch 
noted that he had been a successful entrepreneur in the past, and had offered to take on the 
daVinci Days Festival, only being paid if he was successful, and has offered to do the same thing 
for the Majestic Theater.  
 
Rochefort related that the Arts and Culture Commission asked staff to develop a strategic plan to 
determine whether it was economically viable for Corvallis to be an arts and culture destination 
community. There is a consultant helping develop a strategic plan.  
 

X. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS.  
Griffiths reported the Greenbelt Land Trust will formally open the extension of the Mulkey Creek 
trail to Fitton Green on September 27. The mile-long extension was built entirely by volunteers. 
Hays said the Benton County Friends Group will hold an event right after that, with an open 
house at the Commander’s House two weeks later.  
 
Frei asked about dog policy for the new trail. Hays replied that County rules required that dogs be 
on leash or under voice control; he wasn’t sure about this trail section, though.  
 

XI. ADJOURNMENT:  The meeting was adjourned at 8:00 p.m. 


